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TRETHEWEY HOUSE, 2313 WARE ROAD

Description of Historic Place
The Trethewey House is a grand one and one-half storey plus basement, wood-frame Craftsman

house. It is situated on a large lot in central Abbotsford, to the east of Clearbrook near Mill Lake,
with a landmark stand of Douglas fir trees at the front of the property. The house and its property
are now the home of the MSA Museum Society. The interior and exterior of the house have been

restored and it is now used for interpretive purposes.

Heritage Value of Historic Place
Constructed in 1920, the Trethewey House is significant as the most substantial historic house in

the Mill Lake area, and for its sophisticated Craftsman-style architecture, which retains a high
degree of original integrity. In addition to the typical Craftsman style features such as bracketted
eaves and exposed rafters, the house was distinguished by sophisticated wooden detailing such as
ridge caps and finials. Befitting the timber baron for whom it was constructed, the house was
built of materials obtained locally from Trethewey's mill including the interior fir mouldings,
panelled walls, pocket doors and beamed ceilings, specified to be of the highest quality. The
buff-coloured brick and crackle-glazed clay tile used in the chimney and fireplaces were made
with clay mined on nearby Sumas Mountain and manufactured at the nearby Clayburn
brickworks. The interior is notable for its intact character, exhibiting advanced technological
features such as original electric light fixtures, central heating, and built-in vacuum fittings,
which reflect the status of the original owners in this rural community.

The Trethewey House is additionally significant as once being home to the prominent Trethewey
family. The house was constructed by Joseph Ogle Trethewey (died 1928) - proprietor of the
large, local lumber mill, Abbotsford Lumber Company - and his family. The Trethewey family
was instrumental in the early development of Abbotsford; the mill was a major employer in the
area and its activities changed the landscape from forest to field. Initially prominent in England
for their involvement in mining ventures, the Trethewey family pursued many entrepreneurial
enterprises after settling in Canada. The Tretheweys were well known for their community spirit.
Characteristic of their philanthropy, the family donated this house to the City of Abbotsford for

Uuse as a museuinm.

The heritage value of the Trethewey House also lies in its educational and interpretive value.
Designated as a heritage site in 1983, the house has been restored to its circa 1925 interior and
exterior appearance, and is an important cultural site for the interpretation of Abbotsford's

history to the public.
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Character-Defining Elements
Key elements that define the heritage character of the Trethewey House include its:

- location on its original site, with associated landscape elements such as grassed lawns, gardens,
a mature stand of Douglas fir trees and a Butternut tree at the front of the property

- residential form, scale and massing as expressed by its one and one-half storey plus basement,’
regular rectangular plan

- cross-gabled roof with gabled roof dormers; cedar shingle roof cladding with ridge caps and
wooden finials; and extended bargeboards with scroll-cut ends

- wood-frame construction with lapped siding (first storey) and coursed shingle siding (upper
storey and foundation level)

- Craftsman style features such as: exposed purlins and rafter ends; triangular eave brackets;
cobblestone chimneys (one internal and one external), porch railing and pier supports; stuccoed
and half-timbered gable peaks; square verandah piers; and bay windows supported by exposed
beams

- asymmetrical fenestration exhibiting a variety of wooden-sash window types including: double-
hung, picture and casement windows, with opaque glass transom lights; and smaller, square,
fixed sash windows

- interior elements: include original room layout and configuration; fir finishing such as
mouldings, doors, staircase banister, beamed ceilings, 3/4 height panelling, and floors; original
electric light fixtures (ceiling lights and sconces); brick chimneypiece with keystone detail and
tiled hearths displaying an orange and green crackle glaze; built-in features such as window
benches and library bookcases with leaded, glass doors; original bathtub; cast iron kitchen sink;
and hardware for built-in vacuum system and central heating

WEBSITE LINK TO BE INCLUDED IN THE REGISTER DATABASE:
http://www.abbotstord.net/msamuseum/
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CLAYBURN CHURCH, 4304 WRIGHT ROAD

Description of Historic Place
The Clayburn Church is a restored 1912 structure that was originally built for a Presbyterian

congregation. This red-brick church is located in the brick-making village of Clayburn, on the
west side of Sumas Mountain, in relative proximity to the other early, principal structures in the
village including Clayburn School.

Heritage Value of Historic Place
Located within the Clayburn Village, British Columbia’s first company town, Clayburn Church

is symbolic of the early life in the village and also its primary industrial activity of brick-making.
The village and brick plant were founded in 1905 by Charles Maclure, son of John Maclure, a
former Royal Engineer who settled on a government land grant west of Clayburn. Company
towns provided housing and services in order to sustain a productive workforce in what were
usually isolated conditions. The plant operated in Clayburn until the 1930s, when it was

relocated and most of the original residents moved away.

Built in 1912, the Clayburn Church was one of the landmark structures in the community due to
its early vernacular architecture and conspicuous utilization of the local brick from the Clayburn
brickyards. Modest in size and design, this simple village church featured a steeply pitched roof
with rooftop belfry. The church was constructed of red brick on the exterior and exposed buff
brick interior walls; buff brick was a specialty of the Clayburn Company. The interior brick,
which typically would have been clad with finishing material, is exposed, indicating the pride the

community had for their local product.

Indicative of the high regard the community held for the church, when it was in severely
deteriorated condition, the building was dismantled piece by piece in 1978 and reconstructed
using as much salvageable material as was possible. Furthermore, as many of the original
exterior bricks could not be re-used, new bricks of a similar type were reproduced at Clayburn
Industries, successor to the original Clayburn brickworks, perpetuating the link between the

community and this prominent local company.

The Clayburn Church is also of value for its role of service to the community as a place of
worship and community gathering. It served a Presbyterian congregation until Church
Unification in 1925, when it voted to join the new United Church of Canada. Clayburn Church
was closed in 1958 when the congregation amalgamated with Trinity Memorial Church in
Abbotsford. Since re-opening in 1978, the sanctuary has been used as a community place of
worship, weddings, christenings and other community functions.
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Character-Defining Elements

Key elements that define the heritage character of Clayburn Church include its:

- location, on its original lot, close to its original location, near other historic Clayburn structures
- ecclesiastical form, scale and massing as expressed by its regular, rectangular plan with small
square front porch with front gabled roof '
- steeply pitched front gabled roof clad in cedar shingles; rooftop belfry with shingle-clad base,
louvered vents and pyramidal roof topped by a small wooden finial

- interior and exterior masonry construction: brick, cavity wall construction with red brick
exterior; exposed, buff-coloured brick interior walls utilizing original interior bricks; rear
addition feature wall utilizing original, exterior red bricks

- fenestration, including: segmental arched openings with multi-paned, wooden-sash casement
window assemblies within main sanctuary; multi-paned, fixed wooden-sash windows in porch;
louvered front vent; and front entrance with fir panelled, v-joint front doors

- interior features such as fir mouldings surrounding window and door openings; raised altar with
original, turned, fir railing; fir floor; open interior plan; and high, exposed wooden truss roof

with plank ceiling

WEBSITE LINK TO BE INCLUDED IN THE REGISTER DATABASE:
http://www.clayburn.heritagebe.org/index.htm

WEBSITE IMAGE LINK TO BE INCLUDED IN THE REGISTER DATABASE:
http://fwww.bcarchives.gov.be.ca/sn-56B7F46/cei-bin/text2html/. visual/ime txt/dir 77/d 08494.txt

(Link to archival image BCA d_08494)
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CLAYBURN SCHOOL, 4315 WRIGHT ROAD

Description of Historic Place
Clayburn School is a wood-frame, one-storey plus basement school house with a central entrance

and two large gabled extensions on the front facade. It is located in the village of Clayburn, on
the west side of Sumas Mountain, in relative proximity to the other early, principal structures in
the village including Clayburn Church.

Heritage Value of Historic Place

Located within the Clayburn Village, British Columbia's first company town, Clayburn School is
symbolic of early life in the village and the establishment of services required for the families
who settled here. The village and brick plant were founded in 1905 by Charles Maclure, son of
John Maclure, a former Royal Engineer who settled on a government land grant west of
Clayburn. Company towns provided housing and services in order to sustain a productive
workforce in what were usually isolated conditions. The plant operated in Clayburn until the
1930s, when it was relocated and most of the original residents moved away.

Clayburn School is of heritage value as one of the earliest structures in Clayburn Village, with
the first section being built in 1907-08. Representative of early twentieth century school house
design, the Clayburn School was built on a simple rectangular plan with a hipped roof, with
banked windows on the side elevation. Originally built as a one-room school house, Clayburn
School was later enlarged, doubling the size of school; the building was also raised and a full

basement was added.

The standardized design reflects the central role of the provincial government in setting
educational standards, and the reliance of local school boards on the province's assistance. The
original portion of Clayburn School was constructed by prominent Fraser Valley contractor,
Robert Harvey Brock (1868-1947), following the standards of British Columbia public school
architecture laid out by the Provincial Department of Lands and Works, which provided the
plans and specified the orientation of the building. The banked windows allowed abundant
natural light but also sufficient wall space for large blackboards.

Clayburn School is also significant for its continuing role in the community. During the Second
World War, the school served as a community hall, then was used again as a school until 1983,
when it was sold and rezoned to residential use. The Clayburn Village Community Society
purchased it in 1991, and has been responsible for its ongoing restoration. Today it continues to
be used for community purposes and also houses the Society's collection of artifacts and photos,
acting as an informal museum that interprets local history and the nature of early education in the

village.
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Character-Defining Elements

Key elements that define the heritage character of the Clayburn School include its:

- original location, near other historic Clayburn structures

- institutional form, scale and massing as expressed by its one-storey, symmetrical rectangular
plan with central entry and rectangular front elevation extensions; and raised basement

- wood-frame construction with lapped wooden siding and cornerboards

- cedar shingled, hipped roof; gabled roofs on the front extensions; closed eaves

- exterior features such as the enclosed, central front entrance; exterior basement entrances; and
open rear entrance porch with gabled roof; and buff brick chimney

- variety of wooden-sash windows, including: double-hung 2-over-2 front elevation windows;
multiple-assembly double-hung 6-over-6 side elevation windows; fixed sash basement windows
(four and six-paned) with hopper transom lights (two and three-paned); and three and six-paned
fixed sash basement windows

- interior features such as tongue-and-groove clad ceiling and walls in porch extension; tongue-
and-groove wainscoting in the schoolrooms; and associated fixtures such as blackboards

- associated landscape features such as an adjacent creek and grassed side and rear yards

WEBSITE LINK TO BE INCLUDED IN THE REGISTER DATABASE:
http://www.clavburn.heritagebe.org/index.htm

NOTE: ARCHITECT: Provincial Department of Lands and Works
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ABBOTSFORD SIKH TEMPLE, 33089 SOUTH FRASER WAY

Description of Historic Place

The Abbotsford Sikh Temple is a one and one-half storey, wood-frame vernacular structure set
on a full raised basement, with a false front parapet, an upper balcony running along three of the
facades, and a prominent poured concrete stairway leading to the main central entrance on the
upper level. It is located on a prominent knoll on South Fraser Way in the centre of Abbotsford,
between the early settlements of Clearbrook and downtown Abbotsford. The Sikh Temple has
been designated as a National Historic Site, including the original Temple building with its
additions, the present 'Nishan Sahib' (flag pole) and the bases of earlier flag poles, including the
remnants of the base of the original 'Nishan Sahib'.

Heritage Value of Historic Place

The Abbotsford Sikh Temple ('Gurdwara') is a valuable symbol of the early roots of the Sikh
community and the larger Indo-Canadian community in this region of Canada. The builders of
this temple were part of the initial wave of immigration from India, before a restrictive
immigration policy was implemented, making further immigration virtually impossible for the
next fifty years. The Sikh population was centred in Vancouver, the Fraser Valley and
Vancouver Island, and consisted mainly of male sojourners, whose families remained in India.
Locally, most of the Sikhs worked for the Abbotsford Lumber Company, once B.C.’s third
largest forestry employer. The use of local materials to construct the Temple was significant,
representing the Sikh connection to the lumber industry and to the Abbotsford Lumber
Company, which donated the lumber for the temple, demonstrating the mutual interdependence
of large, isolated industrial plants and their local workforce.

The Abbotsford Sikh Temple is the only Gurdwara from the pioneer phase of Sikh immigration
to Canada that has survived, and is the oldest surviving Sikh Temple in North America.
Construction started on the Temple in 1910 and was completed by 1912. Built of wood-frame
construction, the false front parapet, simple rectangular floor plan and front gabled roof are
typical of vernacular commercial buildings of the period. This was a pragmatic adaptation of
Sikh traditions using a common frontier style, which expressed the men's limited financial
resources and their desire to integrate with the community. The building is typical of early
purpose-built Canadian Sikh temples, containing all the elements of a traditional Gurdwara,
including the prayer hall on the upper level and a communal kitchen and dining area at ground
level. The utilitarian interior, with tongue-and-groove wooden walls and regular fenestration,
became common features of early Canadian temples. The location at the crest of a hill on busy
South Fraser Way contributes to the Sikh Temple’s landmark status.

The Temple was the centre of Abbotsford's Sikh community, serving both religious and social
needs and acting as the reception centre for new immigrants. It was enlarged to the rear in 1932
to extend the prayer hall and a second addition was built in the late 1960s, changes which reflect
the growth of the Sikh community, particularly once wives and children were allowed to
immigrate. A new, much larger Temple was constructed across the road in 1983, but the original

Temple was retained as a symbol of the struggles and achievements of the Sikh pioneers.
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Character-Defining Elements
Key elements that define the heritage character of the Sikh Temple include its:

- original location on a prominent knoll on South Fraser Way

- institutional, vernacular form, scale and massing as expressed by its one and one-half-storey
height, full raised basement, simple rectangular floor plan, and informal additions to the rear

- exterior architectural details such as its: false front parapet; front gable roof with generous
porch roof, supported by steel posts; wraparound upper verandah running along three sides; a
prominent central, poured concrete stairway leading to the main entrance on the upper level; five

separate staircases to access the upper level
- wood-frame construction, with horizontal wooden drop siding, and door and window

mouldings of dimensional lumber

- masonry elements such as board-formed concrete foundations and brick chimneys

- exterior details of the two rear additions, the first with a dropped roofline and the second with a
slightly sloped roof

- regular fenestration, with double-hung 1-over-1 wooden-sash windows

- spatial configuration of the interior, such as the main central entrance opening directly into the
upper-storey prayer hall, with a community kitchen and dining hall on the lower level

- interior details in the prayer hall including: narrow tongue-and-groove wooden panelling;
picture rails; raised floor; wooden arches and ornate canopy defining the altar; and early pendant
light fixture

- the present 'Nishan Sahib' (flag pole) and the bases of earlier flag poles, including the remnants
of the base of the original 'Nishan Sahib'

WEBSITE LINK TO BE INCLUDED IN THE REGISTER DATABASE:
http://www.abbotsford. net/msamuseum/IndoCdnSite/Temple. htm
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